1988

Brixon & Christopher Architects, a professional corporation v. Roger H. Elton and John H. Laub : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction of this appeal which is from a final civil judgment by the Third District Court involving an architectural services contract and the award of damages for breach thereof.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Whether the trial court was entitled to render judgment in favor of Respondents (hereinafter Brixen & Christopher) contrary to the written provisions of Brixen & Christopher's own letter and architectural form contract

which combined documents the lower court specifically determined to be the contract between the parties.

B. Whether the trial court incorrectly determined that Appellants (hereinafter Elton and Laub) were estopped to deny that Brixen & Christopher's services were authorized.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case generally involves a claim by Brixen & Christopher that Elton and Laub were liable for architectural services rendered in connection with a proposed but never constructed recreational building development by Elton and Laub in Weber County. After a court trial, the lower court specifically held that Brixen & Christopher's August 2, 1982 letter and architectural form contract attached thereto was the contract between the parties even though it was not signed by Elton or Laub as requested in the letter. The lower court awarded Brixen & Christopher damages in an amount of \$63,924.97 even though Brixen & Christopher's proposed design was never used and the specific terms of the contract were not complied with by Brixen & Christopher.

The following facts are divided into numbered paragraphs to make reference thereto more convenient. Copies of the pertinent documents referred to herein are included in the addendum.

1. Brixen & Christopher met with Elton and Laub in early March, 1982 and discussed the proposed recreational building project and the five possible design and construction phases in which Brixen & Christopher might be employed as architects. (R. 143).

2. By letter dated March 4, 1982 Elton and Laub authorized Brixen & Christopher to proceed only with the first phase entitled Programming and Schematic Design which included "insuring an accurate statement of needs and budget . . . design, . . . site plan, floor plans, sections, elevations and perspective." (Exhibit 1, pp. 1-3, R. 144-45). (It should be noted that Exhibit 1 is paginated in reverse order so that page No. 1 is the last page of the exhibit). (Addendum, Doc. 1).

3. The schematic design phase was generally to define the scope of the project (R. 145), and the maximum fee for this first phase was to be \$7,500. (Exhibit 1, p. 1). Elton and Laub required that the total cost of the project including site development be under \$800,000. (R. 395; R. 306-07; R. 445). Christopher stated that the \$800,000 was for the building alone and did not include the site development. (R. 478).

4. Before proceeding with any phase beyond the first phase, Brixen & Christopher were required to obtain approval from Elton and Laub. (R. 145; Exhibit 1, p. 1).

5. The first phase was expected to be completed within four to six weeks after March 10, 1982. (R. 401).

6. Brixen & Christopher proceeded immediately with the first phase which was to include "an accurate statement of needs and budget." (R. 145; Exhibit 1, p. 1).

7. Although Brixen & Christopher had a number of meetings with Laub's employees after March 10, 1982, Brixen & Christopher did not personally meet again with Elton and Laub until July 28, 1982. (R. 162; R. 447).

8. At the July 28, 1982 meeting with Elton and Laub, Brixen & Christopher reviewed the documents which Brixen & Christopher were proposing in regard to the overall design and first phase development and to seek Elton and Laub's approval of the first phase so that Brixen & Christopher could proceed with the subsequent phases of the project. (R. 165-66).

9. Christopher testified that Elton and Laub approved the first phase and gave Brixen & Christopher permission on July 28, 1982 to proceed with the other phases. (R. 165-66). Elton and Laub denied giving Brixen & Christopher approval to proceed with the other phases because Brixen & Christopher's preliminary design was not acceptable. (R. 403; R. 431; R. 449-50; see R. 482-83). Christopher testified that approval was given "subject to some more refinements in design", including changes in the roof required by Laub. (R. 317).

10. Elton and Laub testified that Christopher said Brixen & Christopher wanted to continue working on the first phase requirements until the first phase was approved. (R. 404-06; R. 451).

11. Brixen & Christopher proceeded thereafter to work on the changes in the first phase problems including cost reduction as required by Elton and Laub. (R. 411-12; R. 451).

12. In the letter dated August 2, 1982, Brixen & Christopher stated that the cost of the project was estimated to be approximately \$1,200,000 (Exhibit 1, p. 34) rather than the \$800,000 ceiling mandated by Elton and Laub in March, 1982. (R. 395; R. 306-07). (Addendum, Doc. 2).

13. Although Christopher testified that Brixen & Christopher's letter of August 2, 1982 was sent to confirm Elton and Laub's decision to go beyond the first phase and begins by stating that Brixen & Christopher are pleased that Elton and Laub "have elected to proceed with the architectural work" it ends with the following request for approval to proceed with the second phase:

A signed copy of this letter will verify your approval of this Agreement and serve as our notice to proceed with the Design Development Phase. (Exhibit 1, p. 33).

14. The proposed letter agreement of August 2, 1982 was never signed by Elton or Laub who both testified they told Christopher on a number of occasions that they

would not sign it until the design was acceptable and costs reduced. (R. 409-14; R. 454-55).

15. Thereafter, in two subsequent letters dated September 30, 1982 (Addendum, Doc. 3) and November 26, 1982 (Addendum, Doc. 4) Christopher requested that Elton and Laub sign the proposed letter agreement of August 2, 1982 so that Brixen & Christopher could proceed. (Exhibit 1, pp. 47, 76).

16. Also in the letter of November 26, 1982, Christopher proposed that it be an amendment to the alleged August 2, 1982 letter agreement and ends the letter as follows:

If you agree with these changes, please sign and return one copy of this document for our files. This document will become our Amendment to the Agreement, when returned, and all provisions of the original Agreement will apply. (Exhibit 11, p. 76).

The letter then provides for the signatures of Elton and Laub. (Exhibit 1, p. 76).

17. Neither Elton nor Laub ever signed the proposed letter amendment of November 26, 1982.

18. It should also be noted in the letter of November 26, 1982 that Brixen & Christopher had increased without any agreement the first phase charge to \$8,500 rather than the maximum of \$7,500 as stated in the agreement of March 4, 1982. (Exhibit 1, p. 76).

19. Although the lower court determined on disputed

evidence that on July 28, 1982 Elton and Laub approved the first phase involving programming and schematic design, there was never any specific documents identified as approved for the first phase and there was no evidence presented either of documents or testimony that Elton and Laub approved any phase thereafter. In fact, Christopher testified that he did not receive approval for the second phase involving design development (R. 364-65), and he did not receive approval for construction documents which would be the third phase. (R. 365).

20. Attached to Brixen & Christopher's letter of August 2, 1982 and incorporated therein was a form architect's contract which specifically requires that before proceeding with any subsequent phase, the prior phase documents, budget and construction costs, among other items, shall have been approved by the owner. (Exhibit 1, pp. 30-32 (reverse order)).

21. There was never an approved budget or approved cost of construction for any phase. In fact, Christopher testified that the first time there was a detailed breakdown of costs of the project was in October, 1982 (R. 328, Exhibit 1, p. 55) notwithstanding the alleged previous approval of the first phase on July 28, 1982.

22. Christopher admitted that Elton was concerned about the cost estimate submitted in October, 1982. (R. 329).

23. Christopher testified that the first time Brixen & Christopher had a comparison of different mechanical systems was in November, 1982 (R. 330) and admitted that selection of a particular system would have a significant impact on what the owner might decide to do and a significant impact on cost. (R. 330-31).

24. Christopher also admitted that in November, 1982 he was analyzing the engineer's October, 1982 cost estimate to see what average costs of the project might be. (R. 336; R. 340).

25. Christopher testified that neither Laub nor Elton ever told him in writing that the roof design was acceptable (R. 337-38), although Christopher claims Elton orally told him in August, 1982 that the roof design was fine. (R. 338).

26. Christopher then admitted that everything was conditional when he asked Elton to sign both the August 2, 1982 letter and the letter of November 26, 1982 (R. 344). He also admitted that Elton said " . . . if its okay, I'll have them both signed." (R. 344).

27. As of November 26, 1982 Brixen & Christopher had not received any written communication that the first phase involving the schematic design had been approved. (R. 345).

28. In November, 1982 Christopher increased Brixen & Christopher's charge for the first phase from

\$7,500 to \$8,500 partly as a result of work on the schematic design by engineers in the fall of 1982. (R. 343-45; R. 347-49).

29. Brixen & Christopher's work was never used. (R. 438).

30. Laub prepared a \$7,500 check in September, 1982 for delivery to Brixen & Christopher to pay for the first phase at the time it became acceptable. (R. 460; R. 465). The check was never delivered although Laub thought it might have been. (R. 461). Laub was the first person to mention that the check existed when his deposition was taken. (R. 475). Christopher was not aware that the check existed until Laub's deposition. (R. 475).

31. In spite of the fact that Brixen & Christopher were not paid, and Elton and Laub, even though requested to do so on many occasions, never signed the proposed letter agreement of August 2, 1982 or the proposed amendment of November 26, 1982, Brixen & Christopher allegedly continued to perform work on all phases of the project. (R. 321; R. 338).

32. All of Elton's communications after August 2, 1982 to Brixen & Christopher were in response to inquiries by Brixen & Christopher and were consistent with Elton and Laub's understanding that Brixen & Christopher was

allegedly trying to provide an acceptable design. (See Exhibit 1, pp. 82-84 (reverse order), Addendum Docs. 5 and 6). There is no evidence of any written communication from Elton which gave Brixen & Christopher approval of any phase.

33. After the start of this lawsuit, Christopher claimed that Laub met with Brixen & Christopher in July, 1984 and said Laub admitted owing Brixen & Christopher for the architectural work on the project (R. 476), regardless of the fact that Elton and Laub had already answered Brixen & Christopher's complaint and denied all liability. (R. 12; R. 480).

34. The lower court specifically determined that Brixen & Christopher's letter of August 2, 1982 and the attached form architect's contract was the contract between the parties although never signed by Elton or Laub. (Finding of Fact No. 8, R. 53; Conclusion of Law No. 3, R. 57).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A. Brixen & Christopher always maintained and the lower court determined that Brixen & Christopher's August 2, 1982 letter and attachment was a binding contract even though it was never signed by Elton or Laub. That contract requires approval of each separate phase prior

to proceeding with the next phase. Assuming that the lower court could determine on disputed evidence that Elton and Laub orally approved the first phase on July 28, 1982, it is undisputed that Brixen & Christopher were to make and thereafter made further refinements in the first phase. Thus, approval of the first phase by Elton and Laub was tentative at best. Christopher specifically testified that there was no approval for any subsequent phase. Because the contract specifically required such approval, the lower court could not award damages for fees allegedly earned by Brixen & Christopher for any other phase until approval for such phase was established. Moreover, without such proof damages beyond the first phase would be speculative. Because the court was not entitled to remake the contract, Brixen & Christopher is bound by the terms thereof and awarding damages was improper.

B. The lower court's conclusion that Elton and Laub were estopped to deny that Brixen & Christopher's services were authorized can only be sustained by showing reasonable reliance by Brixen & Christopher and setting aside the contract which clearly requires that specific documents for each phase be identified including an approval of anticipated construction costs. No such approval was shown and no documents were identified. Certainly Brixen

& Christopher cannot reasonably claim to have relied because Brixen & Christopher was always aware that the requested contract was not signed and admitted that no approval was given for the second phase or for the construction documents phase.

ARGUMENT

I. THE LOWER COURT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO DETERMINE THAT BRIXEN & CHRISTOPHER'S LETTER OF AUGUST 2, 1982 WAS THE PARTIES' CONTRACT AND THEN IGNORE THE TERMS THEREOF.

In this case, the August 2, 1982 letter and attached form contract contain specific requirements for each phase, the compliance with which by the architect and the approval thereof by the owner are prerequisite to proceeding with work by the architect on any other phase. The contract states the five phases and requirements thereof as follows:

1.1. SCHEMATIC DESIGN PHASE

1.1.1 The Architect shall . . . ascertain the requirements of the Project . . .

1.1.2 . . . shall provide a preliminary evaluation of the program and the Project budget requirements . . .

1.1.3 . . . shall review with the Owner alternative approaches to design and construction . . .

1.1.4 . . . shall prepare for approval by the Owner, Schematic Design Documents consisting of drawings and other documents illustrating the scale and relationship of Project components.

1.1.5 . . . shall submit to the Owner a Statement of Probable Construction Cost . . .

1.2. DESIGN DEVELOPMENT PHASE

1.2.1 Based on the approved Schematic Design Documents and any adjustments authorized by the Owner in the program or Project budget, the Architect shall prepare, for approval by the Owner, Design Development Documents consisting of drawings and other documents to fix and describe the size and character of the entire Project as to architectural, structural, mechanical and electrical systems, materials and such other elements as may be appropriate. (Emphasis added.)

1.2.2 . . . shall submit to the Owner a further Statement of Probable Construction Cost.

1.3. CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS PHASE

1.3.1 Based on the approved Design Development Documents and any further adjustments in the scope or quality of the Project or in the Project budget authorized by the Owner, the Architect shall prepare, for approval by the Owner, Construction Documents consisting of Drawings and Specifications setting forth in detail the requirements for the construction of the Project. (Emphasis added.)

1.3.2 . . . shall assist the Owner in the preparation of the necessary bidding information, bidding forms, the Conditions of the Contract, and the form of Agreement between the Owner and the Contractors.

1.3.3 The Architect shall advise the Owner of any adjustments to previous Statements of Probable Construction Cost indicated by changes in requirements or general market conditions.

. . . .

1.4. BIDDING OR NEGOTIATION PHASE

1.4.1 The Architect, following the Owner's approval of the Construction Documents and of the latest Statement of Probable Construction cost, shall assist the Owner in obtaining bids or negotiated

proposals, and assist in awarding and preparing contracts for construction. (Emphasis added.)

1.5. CONSTRUCTION PHASE - ADMINISTRATION OF THE CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT.

(R. 32) (Addendum, Doc. 2).

The lower court found the August 2, 1982 letter and its attachment to be the binding agreement of the parties. The Utah Supreme Court follows the rule that a court cannot alter obligations contracted for by the parties. Hal Taylor Associates v. Unionamerica, Inc., et al., 657 P.2d 743 (UT 1982); Provo City Corp. v. Nielson Scott Company, Inc., 603 P.2d 803 (UT 1979); Rio Algom Corporation v. Jimco Ltd., et al., 618 P.2d 497 (UT 1980); Highland Construction Company v. Union Pacific Railroad Company, et al., 683 P.2d 1042 (UT 1984). In the Rio Algom case, the plaintiff sought a declaratory judgment concerning computation and payment of royalties and objected to a settlement agreement of a lease. The trial court upheld the settlement agreement and the plaintiff appealed. The Supreme Court affirmed and in regard to the binding effect of the agreement stated as follows:

. . . A court will not, however, make a better contract for the parties than they have made for themselves. . . .

. . . An express agreement or covenant relating to a specific contract right excludes the possibility of an implied covenant of a different or contradictory nature. . . .

. . . A court will not enforce asserted rights that are not supported by the contract itself. . . .

618 P.2d @505.

The above rule is one of general application.

In 17A C.J.S. Contracts, §296(3), (4) it is stated as follows:

Competent parties are entitled to make their own lawful contracts or contractual arrangements. It is not within the province, function, duty or power of the court to alter, revise, modify, extend, rewrite or remake a contract by construction, or to make a new, or different, contract for the parties, whether in the guise of construction or otherwise; . . .

. . . the court must enforce, or give effect to, the contract as made or written . . .

The August 2, 1982 letter agreement is binding on the parties and the court and specifically requires that for each of the phases of the contract, the architect submit to the owner for approval the documents applicable to the prior phase and an updated statement of probable construction costs. The contract provides that the approval for each phase is a condition precedent to the next phase.

Even if Elton and Laub approved the schematic design phase on July 28, 1982, as the lower court found on disputed evidence, there was nothing in the evidence which showed approval of any subsequent phase. In fact, when asked about such approval, Christopher testified on cross-examination that there was no approval as to the

second and third phases involving design development and construction documents as follows:

. . .

Q. Mr. Christopher, when did you get approval for the design development phase?

A. I don't have any record of formal approval. . . . (R. 364).

. . .

Q. And what kind of approval did you get?
R. 364).

A. I have -- I have no approval. (R. 365).

Q. Now, Mr. Christopher, did you ever get approval of the construction documents?

A. They weren't quite complete.

. . .

Q. So you never got approval of those?

A. No. They weren't quite completed, that's right. (R. 365).

Also, Christopher admitted that Laub objected to plaintiff's designs submitted on July 28, 1982 and that Laub was concerned about the projected costs which then far exceeded the total cost limitation Laub had previously given Christopher in March, 1982.

By Christopher's own testimony, Brixen & Christopher was making changes in the mechanical system, a part of the design development, as late as February, 1983. Thus,

even though the lower court might have found that Brixen & Christopher may have done some work on the design development phase in regard to the site clearing documents and bid, it is clear that the design development documents and work were never identified or completed by Brixen & Christopher or approved by Elton and Laub as is specifically required by the contract. According to the terms of paragraph 1.3.1 of the contract, Brixen & Christopher was not authorized to proceed with the construction documents until the documents listed in paragraphs 1.2.1 and 1.2.2 had been approved. Those documents which would require approval by the owner were never identified. To be recoverable, damages must be shown by substantial evidence and not by conjecture. Highland Construction Company v. Union Pacific Railroad Company, et al., 683 P.2d 1042 (UT 1984); Bunnell v. Bills, 13 Utah 2d 83, 368 P.2d 597 (UT 1962).

The lower court granted Brixen & Christopher judgment for \$8,500 for the schematic design phase which amount is \$1,000 more than the maximum agreed amount stated in the March 4, 1982 letter and \$1,000 more than the amount stated in the August 2, 1982 contract. The lower court also granted judgment for \$16,500 for the design development phase, and \$25,500 for the construction documents phase. Such an award is not permissible under the August 2, 1982 letter agreement because even though the trial judge might

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