1988

Brixon & Christopher Architects, a professional corporaton v. Roger H. Elton and John H. Laub : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

On August 4, 1987, appellant John H. Laub filed a federal bankruptcy petition and the parties may be subject in this action to the automatic stay of 11 U.S.C. § 362(a), which operates with respect to "the . . . continuation . . . of a judicial . . . proceeding against the debtor that was . . . commenced before the commencement of the [bankruptcy] case." Accordingly, the parties stipulated to stay the appeal of John H. Laub, and this brief is filed only as to appellant Elton.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION
AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

Respondent Brixen & Christopher Architects (hereinafter "Brixen & Christopher") is satisfied with the statement of appellant Elton regarding jurisdiction and the nature of the proceedings below.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. The attempt by Elton to frame his first issue ("Whether the trial court was entitled to render judgment in favor of Respondents [sic] (. . . Brixen & Christopher) contrary to the written provisions of Brixen & Christopher's own letter and architectural form contract which combined documents the lower court specifically determined to be the contract between the parties.") wrongly assumes that the trial court judgment is contrary to the contract. In fact, the trial court judgment against Elton is in accordance with the contract.

B. Brixen & Christopher is satisfied with the second issue stated by Elton: "Whether the trial court incorrectly determined that Appellants . . . were estopped to deny that Brixen & Christopher's services were authorized." The trial court correctly ruled that Elton was so estopped.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case. This is respondent Brixen & Christopher's action to recover amounts owed to it for architectural services performed for appellants Roger H. Elton and John H. Laub, who were developing the "Wolf Creek Recreation Center" in Eden, Utah.

Course of Proceedings and Disposition in Court Below. After a 3-day trial on Brixen & Christopher's complaint, the Honorable Scott Daniels, sitting without jury, awarded Brixen & Christopher judgment against Elton and Laub in the amount of \$50,500 plus interest and costs.

The trial court found that Brixen & Christopher had provided architectural services as requested by Elton and Laub, that Brixen & Christopher kept Elton and Laub informed of progress with the design throughout the project, that Elton and Laub never objected to Brixen & Christopher's interim billings, and that, when Brixen & Christopher sought payment for the services based on which judgment was awarded, Elton told Brixen & Christopher that he was pleased with their work, agreed that payment was long overdue, and promised on more than one occasion that payment would be made.

Relief sought on appeal. Brixen & Christopher requests that this Court affirm the judgment of the trial court against Elton.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The statement of facts by Elton relies on his side of conflicting evidence and ignores the findings of fact of the trial court while at the same time implicitly attacking them. The treatment of the findings by Elton is inconsistent with the standards established by this Court. This language of Redevelopment Agency v. Tanner, 740 P.2d 1296 (Utah 1987) applies with equal force here:

[A]ppellants' claims are predicated on our acceptance of their version of the events which occurred and how the trial courts should have perceived the circumstances as they existed. However, the facts appellants advance in support of their arguments are carefully chosen to the exclusion of other evidence in the records supporting the lower courts' decisions. Due to the trial court's advantaged position, the presumptions favor its judgment. Where there is dispute and disagreement in the evidence, we assume that the trial judge believed

those aspects and fairly drew the inferences to be derived therefrom which gave his decision support. To this end, neither trial judge found credible the evidence appellants marshalled.

Id. at 1301-02 (footnotes omitted).¹

The facts are appropriately set forth in the trial court's detailed findings of fact, R 52-57. Brixen & Christopher states those findings here with citations to the record supporting the findings and with footnotes showing that, contrary to the "facts" claimed by Elton, the facts found by the trial court are supported by the record:

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. In the period from March 1982 to January 1983, plaintiff Brixen & Christopher Architects, a Utah architectural professional corporation, ("Brixen & Christopher") performed architectural services for defendants Roger H. Elton and John H. Laub, who were developing the "Wolf Creek Recreation Center"

¹ See also Nupetco Associates v. Jenkins, 669 P.2d 877, 882 (Utah 1983) ("[T]he evidence and all of the inferences that can reasonably be drawn therefrom [are viewed] in the light most favorable to the findings and conclusions of the trial court"); Bennion v. Hansen, 699 P.2d 757, 759 (Utah 1985) ("On appeal, the findings of the trial court will not be disturbed unless there is no substantial record evidence to support them. . . . In reviewing the evidence, we view it in the light most favorable to the trial court."); Scharf v. BMG Corp., 700 P.2d 1068, 1070 (Utah 1985) ("To mount a successful attack on the trial court's findings of fact, an appellant must marshal all the evidence in support of the trial court's findings and then demonstrate that even viewing it in light most favorable to the court below, the evidence is insufficient to support the findings.") (citations omitted); 5A J. Moore & J. Lucas, Moore's Federal Practice § 52.06[1], at 52-151 and -152 (2d ed. 1986).

in Eden, Utah. [R 145, R 267-68, ex. 1]. The real property on which the recreation center was to be built was owned solely by Laub. [R 389-90, R 441].

2. Elton and Laub told James W. Christopher, a principal of Brixen & Christopher, that they were partners and at all times, by their words and conduct with respect to Brixen & Christopher, Elton and Laub acted as if they were partners. [R 148, R 290, R 389-90, R 458, ex. 1 (pages 98, 94-93, 88, 85-81, 79-76, 57, 54, 48-47, 46-45, 34-33, 3-1)].

3. Following the first meeting between Christopher, Elton, and Laub on March 3, 1982, Elton and Laub signed an initial letter agreement, dated March 4, 1982, whereby Brixen & Christopher agreed to provide preliminary architectural design services in connection with the planned Wolf Creek Recreation Center for a fee of \$7,500.00 (Exhibit "1"). [R 145-46, R 396-97, R 445-46, ex. 1 (pages 3-1)].

4. An attachment to the initial letter agreement indicated that the total architectural services would be in five phases: (1) programming and schematic design, (2) design development, (3) construction [or contract] documents, (4) bidding or negotiation, and (5) construction administration. The initial letter agreement covered the first phase only. The stated fee for the first phase was \$7,500.00 (Exhibit "1"). [Ex. 1, pages 3-1].

5. Brixen & Christopher proceeded with work on the project and held additional meetings both with Elton and Laub and with employees of Wolf Creek. [R 142-47, 151-52].

6. Several preliminary drawings were prepared. Changes were made to respond to concerns of Wolf Creek, particularly those of Laub. [R 155-59]. By July 28, 1982, the programming and schematic design phase, referred to in the initial letter agreement, had been completed. At a meeting that day, Elton and Laub authorized Brixen & Christopher to proceed with the balance of the architectural services in connection with the recreation center.² [R 165-66, R 315-18]. Christopher was told to prepare a contract to reflect this authorization [R 167-68] and that Elton would be his contact. [R 172].

7. On or about July 29, 1982, Brixen & Christopher issued to Elton and Laub a statement showing that the programming and schematic design phase had been completed, that the hourly fees on that phase had exceeded the agreed upon limit of \$7,500.00, and that the \$7,500.00 fee was then due. [R 278, R 286, ex. 1 (page 91)].

² Elton observes that at trial he and Laub "denied giving approval to proceed with the other phases" and "testified that Christopher said Brixen & Christopher wanted to continue working on first phase requirements." Brief of Elton and Laub at 4-5 (paras. 9-10; see also para. 11). But as Elton notes, Christopher testified that the approval was given, R 165-66, R 315-18, and he confirmed it by letter, ex. 1 (pages 34-30). The refinements discussed at the July 28, 1982 meeting were part of the second "design development" phase, not the first "schematic design" phase. R 313-17, R 370. (In any event, the refinements were completed shortly after the July 28, 1982 meeting. R 318.) Brixen & Christopher even sent Elton and Laub a bill for the completed schematic design phase. R 278, ex. 1 (page 91). Elton and Laub did not object to the letter and had orally agreed to the terms of the letter, R 53 (findings of fact, para. 8), R 168-69. Elton promised

(Footnote 2 continued on next page.)

8. On Monday, August 2, 1982, Christopher sent Elton and Laub a letter which confirmed Elton and Laub's decision to proceed with the architectural work on the recreation center and set forth the fee arrangement by which Brixen & Christopher Architects would be compensated for doing so. (Exhibits "1" [pages 34-30] & "42"). While the August 2, 1982 letter was never signed by Laub and Elton, they had orally agreed to its terms, and Brixen & Christopher proceeded with the authorized architectural work as set forth in the letter agreement with the full knowledge of Elton and Laub.³ [R 168-69, R 321].

9. Brixen & Christopher hired consultants to work on site design, as well as electrical, mechanical and structural

(Footnote 2 cont.)

that he and Laub would sign and return the letter. R 321. They even prepared a check, which Laub assumed was delivered, to pay the bill, R 54 (findings of fact, para. 12), R 461-62, ex. 45. Last, but not least, they admitted owing the money. R 56-57 (findings of fact, paras. 18, 23-25), R 266, R 273-76, R 279-81, ex. 1 (pages 98-97, 87-88, 85, 79). In light of overwhelming evidence, the trial court for good reason did not believe the denials and testimony of Elton and Laub.

³ Elton invites this Court to ignore this finding and the substantial evidence supporting it and instead believe the incredible trial testimony of Elton and Laub, which no writing supports, that they objected to the August 2, 1982 letter. See Brief of Elton and Laub at 5-6 (paras. 12-14). Elton claims in particular that, contrary to the letter, he and Laub placed an \$800,000 limit on the total cost of the project, including site development, but as to this claim also, he acknowledges evidence conflicting with his position. Brief of Elton and Laub at 3 & 5 (paras. 3 & 12). Christopher testified that the initial \$800,000 estimate was for the Recreation Center only, excluding site development. It is not reasonable to think that

engineering design.⁴ [R 174, R 177-78, R 205-10 (structural), R 222-28 (mechanical), R 239-42 (electrical), R 250-54 (site), R 285].

10. By August 31, 1982, requirements for a fall 1982 construction commitment were being reviewed. [R 180, ex. 1 (page 41)]. More meetings and correspondence occurred. [R 180-85, ex. 1 (pages 46-42)]. Brixen & Christopher assisted Wolf Creek in proceedings before the Weber County Planning Commission. [R 463, R 471].

11. In addition to communicating progress on the project to Elton and Laub, Brixen & Christopher worked closely

(Footnote 3 cont.)

if the construction estimate had actually been 50%, or \$400,000, more than Elton and Laub planned to spend that Christopher would have totally ignored such an owner mandate and continued to work on the project based on substantially larger figures, see ex. 1 (pages 34 & 57), and that Elton and Laub would not have generated some document or at least some scrap of paper reflecting the alleged discrepancy. Even their deposition testimony conflicts with Elton's claims. Laub testified in his deposition that he tried to keep all communications through Elton, R 463-64, and that he never contacted Brixen & Christopher about the August 2 letter, R 459-60 (trial transcript in error refers to August 2 letter as August 26th letter). Elton testified in his deposition that he did not even recall the critical July 28, 1982 meeting on which the letter agreement was based, R 424, or an earlier March 10, 1982 meeting, R 421. Thus Elton's vivid "recollection" of these meetings at trial was unreliable, at least. As Christopher testified, at no time did Elton or Laub comment that the construction estimates were too high. R 329, R 478-79. The trial court was well within its province when it rejected the testimony of Elton and Laub and made its finding that the August 2, 1982 agreement was accepted and that Elton and Laub authorized Brixen and Christopher to proceed in accordance with it.

⁴ The schematic design phase provided for in the original contract did not continue into the fall, see, e.g., R 315-318,

with the Wolf Creek employees and with Great Basin Engineering, who had been hired by Wolf Creek for the master site planning of all resort facilities. [R 162-63, R 172, R 178-82, R 186-88, R 190-92, R 196-98, R 201-02, R 266, R 269.]

12. A check of Wolf Creek Resort to Brixen & Christopher for \$7,500.00, dated September 23, 1982, was signed by Laub. Although Laub assumed that it was delivered to Brixen & Christopher, it was not.⁵

(Footnote 4 cont.)

as Elton suggests. Brief of Elton and Laub at 8-9 (para. 28). When Christopher proposed the amendment to raise the total fee, he simply proportioned the \$8,000 total fee increase among all four phases, including the schematic design phase. R 363. The fee increase was due to increased engineering consultant fees, R 201, and part of the rationale for adding part to the schematic design phase was that some of the work responsible for the increased engineering consultant fees was "schematic design" in the eyes of the engineers. R 349. But as Christopher testified, "we had completed structural schematics in our initial work prior to the end of July. Then his [the engineer's] work starts, and he will call it schematics, but it's unrelated to what we do as part of our agreement under schematics." R 349. The assertion by Elton that the schematic design phase continued into the fall is disingenuous, because not only did he and Laub receive a bill in the summer for completion of the schematic design phase based on their approval, R 278, ex. 1 (page 91), but they even prepared a check in September 1982 to pay the bill. R 461-62, ex. 45.

⁵ From the time of his deposition to the time of trial, Laub went from assuming that the check had been delivered, R 460-62, to claiming that (1) the check had been purposely withheld "for delivery to Brixen & Christopher to pay for the first phase at the time it became acceptable," see Brief of Elton and Laub at 9 (para. 30), and (2) that he had told Christopher this, R 465. In light of Laub's conflicting deposition testimony and the contrary testimony of Christopher, R 474, the trial court properly made this finding in favor of Brixen & Christopher and further found that Elton and Laub

13. On about September 30, 1982, Brixen & Christopher: (1) issued a statement to Elton and Laub for a fee then due of \$10,000.00, \$7,500.00 of which represented the July 29, 1982 statement and \$2,500.00 of which represented the partial completion of design development and contract documents for the bid package for site excavation and preparation, and (2) sent Elton and Laub a letter updating them on progress on the project. [R 187, R 278, ex. 1 (pages 90, 48-47)].

14. On October 4, 1982, Christopher delivered a bid package, including drawings and specifications for site work, to Wolf Creek employees. These documents were distributed to contractors to invite bids. About October 11, 1982, bids were received by Wolf Creek for the site work, one of which was favorable in that it was below the estimate. [R 188-93, R 477, ex. 1 (page 97)].

15. By letter dated November 26, 1982, and pursuant to a prior telephone conversation between Elton and Christopher, Christopher sent Elton and Laub an amendment to the August 2 letter agreement to reflect increased architectural fees based on increased consulting fees required

(Footnote 5 cont.)

never objected to the statements for services billed by Brixen & Christopher. R 56 (findings of fact, para. 21).

for structural and mechanical engineering design.⁶ The letter requested review of the amendment and execution if the amendment was acceptable. Elton and Laub neither executed the amendment nor communicated their acceptance of the amendment⁷

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